IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 01-50069
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus
JOSE CARMELO GONZALEZ- MEZA,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas
USDC No. W 00- CR- 350- ALL

Novenber 7, 2001
Bef ore H G3 NBOTHAM W ENER, and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Jose Carnelo Gonzal ez-Meza was convicted by a jury of
reentering the United States illegally after deportation in
violation of 8 U S.C. 88 1326(a)(1) & 1326(b)(1)(2). He appeals
his conviction and sentence on nultiple grounds.

Gonzal ez-Meza first argues that his Mrandi zed statenents
shoul d have been suppressed as tainted by his suppressed un-

M randi zed statenents. "Mrandi zed statenents nade subsequent to

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the court has determnm ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



an un-Mrandi zed statenent are not the illegal fruit of the prior
statenent unless the prior statenent was actually involuntary as
opposed to nerely presuned involuntary on the basis that it was
gi ven without the benefit of Mranda warnings."! Here, the record
does not provide any indication that Gonzal ez- Meza's un-M randi zed
statenents were involuntary or the product of coercion.? As such,
there is no need to engage in an attenuation anal ysis pursuant to
Brown v. Illinois,® and we conclude the district court did not err
in refusing to suppress the Mrandi zed statenents.*

We al so find that there was sufficient evidence to sustain the
conviction for illegal reentry, with or without the Mrandi zed
st atenents. “"Pursuant to the text of 8§ 1326, the government is
required to allege [and prove] only (1) that the defendant was an
alien, (2) that he was 'deported' as that termis contenplated by
the statute, (3) that he subsequently was found within the United
States; and (4) that he did not have the consent of the Attorney

General to reapply for admission."® In particular, sufficient

! United States v. Garcia Abrego, 141 F.3d 142, 169 (5th Cr
1998) .

2 See id.
3422 U.S. 590 (1975).

4 See O. v. Elstad, 470 U S. 298, 310-11 (1985); United
States v. Barte, 868 F.2d 773, 774 (5th Cr. 1989); United States
v. Basey, 816 F.2d 980, 994 (5th G r. 1987).

5> United States v. GQuznman- Ccanpo, 236 F.3d 233, 237 n.4 (5th
Cr. 2000), cert. denied, 121 S. C. 2600 (2001).
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docunent ary evi dence established that Gonzal ez- Meza had previ ously
been deported and that he did not have the consent of the Attorney
General to reenter the United States.® Moreover, Gonzal ez-Meza's
properly-admtted, sworn statenent provi des anpl e evidence that he
had been previously deport ed.

The district court did not abuse its discretion by denying
Gonzal ez- Meza discovery of the audio recording of his prior
deportation hearing because the recordi ng woul d not have permtted
Gonzal ez-Meza to successfully collaterally attack his prior
deportation order on the basis that his Texas state felony drug
conviction was not an "aggravated felony."’ Qur precedent
forecl oses any argunent that his conviction was not such a fel ony,
and so he cannot establish that any al |l eged procedural deficiencies
in his earlier hearing caused hi mactual prejudice.® CGonzal ez- Meza
was also ineligible for discretionary relief under 8 U S C 8§
1182(h) because of the quantity of drugs for which he was convi ct ed

in Texas state court.?®

6 Cf. United States v. Quezeda, 754 F.2d 1190, 1193-95 (5th
Cr. 1985).

7 See United States v. Hernandez-Aval os, 251 F.3d 505, 507
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, No. 01-5773, 2001 W 992061 (U.S. Cct. 1,
2001) .

8 See id. at 507-08; United States v. Hinojosa-Lopez, 130
F.3d 691, 694 (5th Cr. 1997).

9 See 8 U.S.C. § 1182(h).



The district court also did not abuse its discretion in
refusing to exclude testinony that a fingerprint card indicating
that Gonzal ez-Meza had a crimnal history was found in his INS
Alien File. Even assum ng wi thout deciding that the district court
erred in overruling Gonzal ez- Meza' s Federal Rul e of Evi dence 404(Db)
objection to this evidence, such error would be harnl ess because
the inplication that Gonzal ez-Meza had a crimnal history did not
have a substantial and injurious effect or influence on the jury's
verdict in light of the other substantial evidence of Gonzal ez-
Meza's qguilt.?0

We also reject Gonzal ez-Meza's argunent that the district
court’s decision to admt into evidence his statenment that he
illegally reentered the United States in 1998 vi ol ated Rul e 404(Db).
Contrary to Gonzal ez- Meza' s under st andi ng of section 1326, we have
held that "Section 1326 sets forth a continuing offense,” which
"begins at the tine the defendant illegally re-enters the country
and does not becone conpl ete unless or until the defendant is found
by the INS in the United States."!'' Mreover, section 1326 is a

general intent offense, requiring that the governnent prove that

10 See United States v. Polasek, 162 F.3d 878, 886 (5th Cr
1998); cf. United States v. Torres-Flores, 827 F. 2d 1031, 1038 (5th
Cir. 1987) (citing cases where the adm ssion of a "mug shot" which
tended to allude to a crimnal record or bad character was harmnl ess
in light of other strong evidence agai nst the defendant).

1 United States v. Corro-Bal buena, 187 F.3d 483, 485 (5th
Cir. 1999); see also United States v. Reyes-Nava, 169 F. 3d 278, 280
(5th Gr. 1999).



the defendant voluntarily reentered the United States.!? Under
t hese circunstances, evidence of CGonzal ez-Meza's reentry in 1998
"constituted intrinsic background information and therefore Rule
404(b)'s limts on adm ssibility of extrinsic acts did not apply."?3
For the foregoi ng reasons, Gonzal ez-Meza's conviction i s AFFI RVED

Gonzal ez- Meza' s argunents that our decision in Ruiz-Ronmero v.
Reno!* inplicitly overruled the holding in United States v.
H noj osa- Lopez'® and that our interpretation of "aggravated fel ony"
for sentencing purposes violates a fundanental rule of statutory

construction and the rule of lenity are neritless.® CGonzal ez- Meza

12 United States v. Berrios-Centeno, 250 F.3d 294, 298-99 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, No. 01-5535, 2001 W 914944 (U.S. Cct. 1,
2001).

13 United States v. Mranda, 248 F.3d 434, 440 (5th Cir.),
cert. denied, No. 01-6235, 2001 W 10953457 (U.S. Cct. 15, 2001);
see also United States v. WIlliams, 900 F.2d 823, 825 (5th Cr.
1990). O course, the necessary voluntary act to neet the general
intent requirenment could also "be inferred by the fact that a
def endant was previously deported . . . and subsequently found in
the United States, without consent." Berrios-Centeno, 250 F. 3d at
299 (internal quotation marks omtted).

4205 F.3d 837 (5th Gr. 2000).
15130 F.3d 691 (5th Gr. 1997).

6 See United States v. Rivera, 265 F.3d 310 (5th G r. 2001)
(per curiam (rejecting a statutory construction and rule of lenity
chal | enge to Hi noj osa-Lopez); Hernandez-Aval os, 251 F.3d at 507-08
(reaffirmng Hi nojosa-Lopez and rejecting the argunent that the
interpretation of "aggravated felony" enployed by the Board of
| mm gration Appeals is binding on us for sentencing or immgration
purposes); Narvaiz v. Johnson, 134 F.3d 688, 694 (5th G r. 1998)
(holding that panel decisions cannot overrule prior panel
deci sions).



now concedes this point to the governnent but seeks to be
resentenced pursuant to an anendnent to U.S.S.G 8§ 2L1.2, effective
Novenmber 1, 2001. This amendnent is not listed in US S.G 8
1B1.10(c), however, and so affords Gonzal ez-Meza no right to seek
relief fromthe district court under 18 U. S.C. § 3583(c)(2).%

The district court also did not abuse its discretion by
ordering that Gonzal ez- Meza's sentence run consecutive to his state
court sentence for driving while intoxicated. Because, as noted
above, Gonzal ez-Meza's section 1326 violation was a continuing
of fense begun when he reentered the United States in 1998, and
because a section 1326 violation is not a nere status offense,
US S G 8§ 5GL.3(a) authorizes a consecutive sentence in this
case. 18

Finally, relying on our recent decision in United States v.
Rodri guez- Mont el ongo, °* Gonzal ez- Meza raises for the first tine in
his reply brief the argunent that the district court erred in
refusing to grant a downward departure based on cultural

assimlation. Odinarily, we will not consider an argunent raised

7 See U.S.S.G 8§ 1B1.10(c); United States v. Posada-Ri os, 158
F.3d 832, 880 (5th Gr. 1998).

8 See U.S.S.G 8§ 5GlL.3(a); United States v. Tovi as- Marroqui n,
218 F.3d 455, 456-57 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 531 U S. 1058
(2000); Corro-Bal buena, 187 F.3d at 485.

19 263 F.3d 429 (5th Gr. 2001).
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for the first time in areply brief.?0 This argunment, however, is
w thout nmerit at all events. The district court here did not
sinply believe that it did not have authority to grant such a
downwar d departure, but rather indicated that it woul d not exercise
its discretion to grant such a departure if it did have the
authority to do so. Under these circunstances, we cannot review
the district court's refusal to grant a downward departure and so
we dismiss the appeal as to this issue.? Accordingly, Gonzal ez-

Meza's sentence i s AFFI RVED

20 Price v. Roark, 256 F.3d 364, 368 n.2 (5th Cr. 2001).

2l See United States v. Martinez, 263 F.3d 436, 440 (5th Cr
2001) .



